THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

HONORABLE, Crystal M.Rookard, Administrative Law Judge

Appellant Case No: 2024-001910

Steven Harvey, #240138, Appellant

v.

South Carolina Department of  
Corrections, Respondent

RECEIVED  
NOV 25 2024  
SC Court of Appeals

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Steven Harvey, #240138, Pro-Se

Livesay Correctional Inst.  
P.O.Box 580  
Una, SC 29378

ISSUES ON APPEAL

(1) Did the Administrative Law Court Judge commit error in not considering exceptions of not exhausting Administrative remedies?

(2) Was appellant paid prison industry wages required by law?

STATEMENT OF CASE

This matter appeared before the South Carolina Administrative Law Court pursuant to an appeal filed by Steven Harvey # 240138 ( Appellant ), an inmate incarcerated with the South Carolina Dept. of Corrections (SCDC). In his appeal before the Administrative Law Court, he asserted that the Department did not pay him a prevailing wage under South Carolina Code Ann. § 24-3-40, and 24-3-430, and is seeking to be paid back pay and all over time pay for work performed in the prison industries program.

The Administrative Law Court dismissed the appeal for lack of appellant jurisdiction based upon Appellant's failure to exhaust his administrative remedies.

## PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On July 11, 2023, Appellant filed a step 1 Grievance asserting the Department was paying him less than the prevailing wage required under Torrence v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections, 433 S.C. 633, 636, 861 S.E. 2d 36,38 ( Ct.App.2021) reh'g denied (Aug. 4, 2021), cert., denied Aug. 3, 2022) and statutory law. He specifically requested to be paid the prevailing wage for the time he worked in PIECP from 2006 to 2023.

Appellant's step 1 Grievance was elevated to the step 2 Grievance level on November 14, 2023, the warden denied Appellant's step 2 Grievance alleging it was untimely pursuant to SCDC Policy ADM-15.13 section 12.1. On November 20, 2023 Appellant filed a notice of appeal with the South Carolina Administrative Law Court, and the case was assigned to the Honorable Judge Crystal M.Rookard. On October 28, 2024 ALC Judge, Crystal M.Rookard entered an order of Dismissal with Prejudice asserting Appellant had failed to exhaust his administrative remedies. On November 19, 2024, Appellant filed his brief.

Issues on Appeal

1.) Did ALC Judge commit error in not considering exceptions of not exhausting Administrative remedies?

RELEVANT FACTS

Appellant presents that up under SCDC Policy number GA-01.12, 13.2 states that in certain cases, informal resolution may not be appropriate or possible (e.g.) when the matter involves allegations of criminal activity). The instant matter before the court involves Theft/Embezzlement not only from the Appellant but also against The Internal Revenue Service as well as The Social Security Administration. S.C. statute 24-3-40 mandates that any deductions from inmates pay participating in the PIP must be made from gross wages. Subsection(A)(6) states the remaining balance must be used to pay federal and state taxes required by law. By SCDC reducing the amount remitted by (Shaw Industries ) the Prison Industry Sponsor to \$7.25 per hour and then initiating deductions they are clearly in violation of of statutory law. Up under Policy No:GA-01.12, section 15 Grievances alleging criminal activity mandates that the matter be referred 1st to the Inmate Branch Chief then to the Office of Inspector General for investigation. None of these actions were taken in Appellant's grievance.

Additionally SCDC Policy number GA-01.12,13.10 offers exceptions to the SCDC Policy ADM-15.13 section 12.1 will be made for grievances concerning policies procedures. Torrence v. SCDC, 433 S.C. 633 (Ct.App.) 2021. On remand, the court of Appeals, Huff J., held that: Inmate's grievance involved Department policies and procedures, rather than an isolated incident and thus, 15-day filing rule did not apply.

Also, Appellant clearly displayed in reply brief to notice to dismissal extenuating circumstance for not initiating Prevailing wage claim utilizing the Automated Request to Staff Member System. The previous Inmate Financial staff member here at Livesay Correctional Institution, Ms. Catur as well as the previous Inmate Grievance coordinator, Ms. Anita Hernandez, (who were both terminated for cause), made an announcement over the institution loud speaker for inmates not to place informal resolutions on the Automated Request to staff member system but simply submit our step 1 grievance to the grievance coordinator due to the volume of claims being processed.

Furthermore, Generally the legislature will not require a futile act. Thus, a generally recognized exception to the requirement of exhaustion of administrative remedies exists when a party demonstrates that pursuit of them would be a in vain and futile act. Ward v. State 343 S.C. 14, Robinson v. S.C. Dept. of Employment and Workforce S.C. (Ct.App.S.E 2d(2024)).

Additionally there is a futility exception to administrative issue-exhaustion requirements, since it makes little sense to require litigants to present claims to adjudicators who are powerless to grant the relief requested; such a vain exercise will rarely protect administrative agency authority or promote judicial efficiency. See. Carr v. Saul U.S. Supreme Ct. 593 U.S. 83(2021). See exhibit #1 The Inmate Financial Designee here at Livesay C.I. as well as throughout SCDC has no authority or responsibility towards inmate pay in regards to the Prison Industry Program Payroll. By making the announcement on the institution loud speaker(Inmate Financial Designee Ms.Catur as well as Inmate Grievance Coordinator Ms.Anita Hernandez) they created a unique situation in which the filing of an informal resolution on the Automated Request to Staff system became unavailable.

## DISCUSSION

In conclusion of the matter of failure to exhaust administrative remedies, SCDC Policy GA-01.12,13.3 states If the inmate has failed to provide necessary information, of has not signed or dated the grievance, (She/He) will be given (5) calendar days to refile a properly filled out grievance; this will be noted on the step 1 form with a due back dated included. This information will also be entered into the CRT narrative when the grievance is closed as unprocessed( reviewed but returned). The Inmate Grievance Coordinator in the instant matter processed Appellant's step 1 grievance and instructed him to proceed with his step 2 grievance. See exhibit #2 ( Unprocessed Grievance), Emphasis added English v. Andrews 2014 WL 6969629 Law Key No:4 " If a inmate fails to attach the completed Request to staff, (informal resolution) the grievance will be returned unprocessed.)

The Inmate Grievance Coordinator has committed a Gross dereliction of duty and exception to exhaustion of administrative remedies is warranted in the instant case. Ross v. Blake U.S. Supreme Ct.136 1850.

### Issue on Appeal (2)

Was Appellant paid prison industry wages required by law?

The Department is attempting to bar Appellant from claiming Prevailing wages for work done prior to the Court of Appeals decision in Torrence v. SCDC 433 S.C. (2021). The Department alleges that the Torrence ruling changed the statutory construction of statute 24-3-430(D). That argument is in direct conflict with the fact that the Court's ruling in Torrence (2021) held that the inmate was due wages earned in the twenty years prior to the date the court issued it's decision based on the statute existing at the time wages were earned. Statute 24-3-430(D) was controlling law at the inception of Appellant's employment with contractor (Shaw Industries) PIP Sponsor throughout his tenure as a Prison Industry worker and is still statutory law today.

Nothing in the record suggests that Appellant was told that he would receive the " Prevailing wages " for his labor or given access to prevailing wage information so he could check his pay rate. Indeed it's SCDC's policy to misinform inmates about the wages they are due and give them 15-days to catch the misrepresentation. It is hard to imagine a more arbitrary or capricious policy. It would not be in the interest of justice to allow SCDC to litigate these Prevailing Wage claims for over two decades and then find that inmate's claims raised at the conclusion of that litigation were neglected for an unreasonable or unexplained length of time. Wicker v. SCDC 360 S.C. 421 (2004), Torrence v. SCDC 373 S.C. 586 (2007). Also citing statute 1-23-380(5)(e) states " The court may reverse or modify the decisions if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are:(e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative , and substantial evidence on the whole record."

Noting that " Statute of limitations normally begin to run when the crime is complete" but that criminal acts over an extended period may be treated as a continuing offense for limitations purposes." U.S. v. Perry 757 F3d.166,173 (4th Cir 2014 ). The time frames of SCDC neglecting to take deductions from gross wages is well within the statute of limitations citing 24-3-40 " All deductions shall be taken from gross wages."

Also. SCDC is currently operating The Prison Industry Program without paying the mandated Prevailing wages up under 24-3-430(D) and thus there can be no statute of limitations on an act which is presently and continually being committed. U.S. v. Ravenel 66 4th 472 (2023).

SCDC has displayed substantive unconscionability for decades in regards to following the laws and statutes in regards to the Prison Industry Program. Particularly The Dept. has and is continually violating statutes 24-3-40 and 24-3-430(D).

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully request this matter be remanded back to the Department of Corrections for tolling of all hours worked applying prevailing wages plus overtime hours. Appellant performed 19,653.5 Regular hours ( 19,653.5 x \$13.66 an hour = \$268,466.81) and 880.85 overtime hours ( 880.85 x \$16.86 = \$14,851.13). These figures reflect the mean average prevailing wages. Combined they equal \$268,466.81(Reg. hrs). + \$14,851.13 (OT hours) = \$283,317.94-\$127,493.07(45% applicable deductions up under statute 24-3-40 for victims (20%) room & board (25%) and long term saving (10%) = a total of \$155,824.87 owed to Appellant who worked in Prison Industries up under Contractors Anderson Flooring as well as Shaw Industries for over 17 years. Therefore, Appellant is seeking the mean average prevailing wage for all hours worked including overtime hours.