RECEIVED

Mar 12 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Administrative Law Judge Crystal M. Rookard

ALC Case No. 23-ALJ-04-0672-AP
Appellate Case No. 2024-001910

STEVEN HARVEY, # 240138,

APPELLANT,

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

RESPONDENT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT
OF CORRECTIONS**

Christina Catoe Bigelow
Deputy General Counsel
Office of General Counsel
South Carolina Dept. of Corrections
Post Office Box 21787
Columbia, South Carolina 29221
(803) 896-8508

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

SINCE AN INTERVENING OCCURRENCE HAS RENDERED THE APPEAL MOOT SUCH THAT NO JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY REMAINS, THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before this Court pursuant to the appeal of Steven Harvey (Appellant), an inmate confined in SCDC. In 2023, Appellant submitted grievances concerning his rate of pay for his work in Prison Industries. These grievances were denied, and Appellant appealed to the Administrative Law Court. On October 28, 2024, Administrative Law Judge Crystal M. Rookard issued an order dismissing the appeal due to Appellant's failure to exhaust his administrative remedies. This appeal followed, and Appellant submitted his Initial Brief in November 2024.

Thereafter, Respondent filed a motion to dismiss the appeal as moot based upon the fact that Appellant had been served with an appealable Final Agency Decision regarding his wage calculations on January 15, 2025. The motion to dismiss was denied on February 10, 2025. On March 11, 2025, Respondent submitted a second motion to dismiss the appeal on the ground that the appeal was conclusively moot because Appellant filed a new Notice of Appeal in the ALC from the January 15, 2025 Final Agency Decision and the case was proceeding in the ALC. This Brief accompanies the second motion to dismiss.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) provides the general standard of review for appeals from the Administrative Law Court:

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The reviewing tribunal may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

In an appeal of a final decision of an administrative agency, the standard of appellate review is whether the ALC's findings are supported by substantial evidence. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B). "Substantial evidence" is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow a reasonable mind to reach the same conclusion that administrative agency reached. Hendley v. S.C. State Budget & Control Bd., 325 S.C. 413, 481 S.E.2d 159 (Ct. App. 1996). A reviewing court shall not substitute its own judgment for that of the ALC as to findings of fact, but it may reverse or modify decisions that are controlled by errors of law or that are clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the record as a whole. Id.

ARGUMENT

SINCE AN INTERVENING OCCURRENCE HAS RENDERED THE APPEAL MOOT SUCH THAT NO JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY REMAINS, THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED.

Appellant filed an appeal challenging an order of the Administrative Law Judge Crystal M. Rookard which dismissed his request to be paid the prevailing wage on failure to exhaust grounds without addressing the merits of the claim. (See October 2024 Order). Appellant submitted his Brief in November 2024. On January 15, 2025, Appellant was served with a Final Agency Decision detailing his wage calculations. (See First Motion to Dismiss and Attachments). On January 16, 2025, Appellant appealed the Final Agency Decision by filing another Notice of Appeal in the Administrative Law Court. (See Second Motion to Dismiss and attachments). This new appeal challenges the wage calculations set forth in the January 15, 2025 Final Agency Decision. The new appeal was assigned to ALC Judge Ralph King Anderson, III, on February 27, 2025, and the matter is pending under case number 2025-ALJ-04-0038-AP (see Respondent's Second Motion to Dismiss and attached Notice of Appeal and Docketing Sheet from the ALC). If Appellant is unsatisfied with the outcome of his case in that matter, he can file an appeal to the Court of Appeals.

The issue of wage calculations cannot be addressed in this appeal because wage calculations were not before the Administrative Law Court. Judge Rookard dismissed Appellant's appeal below for failure to exhaust his administrative remedies. (See ALC Order dated October 28, 2024). She did not make any ruling on the merits and therefore did not address the issue of wage calculations. Wage calculations were not before the ALC in any fashion. Therefore, the substantive issue of Appellant's wage calculations cannot be addressed by this Court in this appeal since it was not addressed by the lower court. See SCACR, Rule 210 (c) and (h).

The issuance and service of an appealable Final Agency Decision regarding Appellant's wage calculations, and Appellant's subsequent appeal to the ALC, has rendered this appeal moot because no justiciable controversy remains as to arguments made in Appellant's Brief, which was filed prior to the issuance and service of the Final Agency Decision and prior to Appellant's appeal to the ALC submitted January 16, 2025. A justiciable controversy exists "when there is a real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a dispute that is contingent, hypothetical, or abstract." Sloan v. Friends of Hunley, Inc., 369 S.C. 20, 25, 630 S.E.2d 474, 477 (2006) (citation omitted). "A moot case exists where a judgment rendered by the court will have no practical legal effect upon an existing controversy because an intervening event renders any grant of effectual relief impossible for the reviewing court." Mathis v. South Carolina State Highway Dep't, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973). "If there is no actual controversy, this Court will not decide moot or academic questions." Id.

The order of Judge Crystal M. Rookard dismissing Appellant's ALC case for failure to exhaust is now moot since the substantive issue of Appellant's wage calculations is being litigated in the Administrative Law Court before Judge Ralph King Anderson, III, under case number 2025-ALJ-04-0061-AP. Accordingly, Respondent respectfully requests that this appeal be dismissed as moot.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should dismiss the appeal as moot.